#### **ISSUES PRESENTED**

- 1. Does the law of California forbid a pharmaceutical patent holder from paying its competitors hundreds of millions of dollars—part of its monopoly profits—in exchange for their agreement not to sell cheaper competitive generic drugs?
- 2. Do the facts of this case demonstrating egregious patent misuse in the form of a large cash payment, made to head off likely invalidation, that drove up prescription drug prices in an area critical to social welfare, preclude federal preemption of California law?
- 3. Are the trial court and reviewing court required to expressly rule on evidentiary objections raised at summary judgment under this Court's decision in *Reid v. Google, Inc.* (2010) 50 Cal. 4th 512?

#### WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

This Court's review is necessary to establish the law of California with respect to the anticompetitive conduct of pharmaceutical manufacturers under the Cartwright Act, Business and Professions Code section 16700, et seq., and the Unfair Competition Law ("UCL"), Business and Professions Code section 17200, et seq.

This appeal presents issues of vital importance to the people of California. The claims focus on Bayer's \$398.1 million payoff to Barr and others for the explicit purpose of preventing Barr from entering the market and selling generic Cipro at low prices. With prescription drug prices continuing their unchecked rise, drug companies owning prescription drug patents must not be permitted to suppress competition by buying off their would-be rivals. That is why the California Attorney General's Office has denounced anticompetitive agreements like the one at issue here, finding

they cause "collusive delays" to generic drug competition and the availability of affordable prescription medicines.

The Court of Appeal erroneously blessed Bayer's \$398.1 million payment to Barr—made to secure Barr's express agreement not to compete or sell affordable generic versions of the antibiotic Cipro for nearly seven years. The payment was wrong-way or "reverse" in that Barr, the *defendant* in the litigation whose generic formulation allegedly infringed the Cipro patent, *received* massive consideration instead of paying a dime. Bayer made the payment to avoid trial on Barr's invalidity counterclaim and the resulting patent invalidation that would have taken away its monopoly profits. This was wrong.

In affirming a grant of summary judgment to these companies,
Defendants in this action, the Court of Appeal accepted a misdirected line
of recent federal authority that has no place in California jurisprudence.
This Court should grant review to prevent the adoption of this flawed line
of federal decisions as the law of California. If these decisions were to
become the law of California, the aggrieved patients and consumers who
make up this Class, and who paid high prices for Cipro from 1997 to 2004,
would be denied their right to pursue recovery of hundreds of millions of
dollars in illegal overcharges.

Denial of review would pave the way for competitors to continue flaunting California law and public policy. "Pay-for-delay" deals result in American consumers paying an additional \$3.5 billion every year in inflated prescription drug costs.<sup>2</sup> The present case involves the largest such

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> http://ag.ca.gov/publications/biennial\_report\_07-08.pdf, at p. 3 (Appellants' Appendix ("AA"), vol. 10, at 2337).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> http://www.ftc.gov/os/2010/01/100112payfordelayrpt.pdf, at p. 2.

deal of all time.<sup>3</sup> There is no better vehicle than this case to safeguard and promote consumer access to reasonably priced prescription drugs.

The Court of Appeal held that Bayer's ownership of a Cipro patent immunized Bayer from Cartwright Act liability, even though the patent had never been upheld in court at the time of Bayer's payment, and even though Bayer's payment allowed it to share its monopoly—and monopoly profits—with its competitors. The Court committed numerous errors. It misapplied California law and gave no weight to the harm Bayer's payment not to compete inflicted on patients and consumers in California. The opinion turned a blind eye to Defendants' naked horizontal market allocation, which led to drastic price increases borne by California citizens. Such agreements are per se illegal under the Cartwright Act. In deferring to recent federal decisions, the opinion failed to address applicable high court authority, including decisions of this Court, and ignored that in legitimate litigation, the patent holder does not pay the alleged infringer to settle. The opinion also misunderstood patent law, allowing a private agreement surrounding an untested—and unenforceable—patent to supply the same bulwark against competition as a fully litigated patent upheld on its merits. Indeed, the \$398.1 million payment to the patent challenger here is the functional equivalent of a victory by the entity asserting the patent was invalid. But consumers gained no benefit and ultimately funded the settlement.

The reasoning and result below are abhorrent to the central purposes of the Cartwright Act: requiring competition and protecting consumers from monopolists. See Bus. & Prof. Code section 16700, et seq.; Marin

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> http://democrats.energycommerce.house.gov/Press\_111/20090331/testimony\_hemphill.pdf, at p. 9 (10AA 2261).

County Bd. of Realtors, Inc. v. Palsson (1976) 16 Cal. 3d 920, 935 ("Antitrust laws are designed primarily to aid the consumer."). The decision also offends the California public policy and public interest with respect to health care. In particular, health care occupies "a special moral status and therefore a particular public interest" in California, as this Court held, and the Legislature declared, "[a]ffordability is critical in providing access to prescription drugs for California residents, particularly the uninsured and those with inadequate insurance." Potvin v. Met. Life (2000) 22 Cal. 4th 1060, 1070; Health & Safety Code § 130500; Stats. 2006, c. 619, s. 1 (A.B. 2911).

Further, if adopted as the law of California, the Court of Appeal's holding would vitiate California's patent abuse doctrine, under which California courts have long recognized that a patent holder can be found to violate the Cartwright Act through unlawful acts, even acts confined to the patent parameters. The doctrine looks to whether a patent was misused in subversion of the public interest. *See* Pages 10–19, *infra*. The Court of Appeal ignored this completely.

A jury could reasonably find that Bayer's payment was made to avoid invalidation of its Cipro patent and the price competition that would have resulted. The size of the payment (far more than Bayer's competitors stood to earn from generic Cipro sales in a competitive market), and the clear proof of Defendants' intent to foreclose competition, raise an inference of unlawful patent abuse and support a finding of Cartwright Act liability.

Payoffs to generic drug competitors are troubling. First, they eliminate competition. Second, they foreclose the testing of patents, a core

focus of the case law regarding patents and patent litigation.<sup>4</sup> Third, they lead to higher drug prices, adversely affecting the public health and welfare.<sup>5</sup> See Brief Amici Curiae of 78 Intellectual Property Law, Antitrust Law, Economics, and Business Professors in Support of Appellant, filed in the Court of Appeal on November 29, 2010. Fourth, in the area of pharmaceutical pricing, such payments blocking generic competition directly undermine the purpose of the Drug Price Competition and Patent Term Restoration Act of 1984 ("Hatch-Waxman Act"), 21 U.S.C. § 355, which was designed to "get generic drugs into the hands of patients at reasonable prices—fast." In re Barr Labs., Inc. (D.C. Cir. 1991) 930 F.2d 72, 76.

The California Attorney General's Office, thirty-seven other state attorneys general, the Federal Department of Justice and the Federal Trade Commission have beseeched courts to overrule the rule applied below, as have a broad array of public policy, consumer protection and other non-profit organizations: the American Medical Association; AARP; the American Antitrust Institute; Consumers Union; the National Association of Chain Drug Stores; Prescription Access Litigation; Consumer Federation

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Far from being sacrosanct, patents, especially pharmaceutical patents, are frequently challenged and invalidated. (6AA 1177.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Scientific studies in peer-reviewed journals have found that many patients do not take some or all of their prescribed medicine when it is too expensive and becomes unaffordable. See, e.g., Emily R. Cox, et al., Medicare Beneficiaries' Management of Capped Prescription Benefits, Medical Care, vol. 3, at 296 (2001) (finding that 23.6 percent of Medicare beneficiaries who were at risk of reaching their prescription cap took less than the prescribed amount of medication, 16.3 percent stopped using medications, and 14.7 percent went without food, clothing, or shelter) (9AA 1999; see also 9AA 1970–2002).

of America; the Public Patent Foundation; the National Legislative Association for Prescription Drug Prices; and U.S. PIRG.

The Court of Appeal's secondary, wide-reaching federal preemption ruling might be even more disturbing than its unquestioning adoption of the unsound federal standard. The preemption ruling will unwisely and unduly limit the ability of California courts to adjudicate disputes touching upon issues of patent law. *See* Pages 19–24, *infra*. The Court of Appeal incorrectly determined that Petitioners' basis for seeking liability conflicts with federal law. Rather, the Federal Trade Commission has found that, under federal law, these kind of anticompetitive "pay-for-delay" agreements represent "one of the greatest threats American consumers face today."

To counteract that threat, to settle legal issues of vital importance to California patients, consumers and public law enforcement officials, to provide guidance to litigants in California and throughout the United States where California law is applied, and to establish the proper balance between California competition law and federal patent law, this Court should grant review and resolve the question of first impression presented by this appeal. The opinion below should be vacated and the grant of summary judgment reversed so the claims may proceed to trial, consistent with a correct understanding of California law.

#### **BACKGROUND**

These Cartwright Act claims derive from agreements among several competitors. Defendants Bayer AG and Bayer Corp. ("Bayer") held the patent to the blockbuster anti-infection drug ciprofloxacin hydrochloride

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> http://www.ftc.gov/os/testimony/P040101antitrust\_laws.pdf, at p. 4 (10AA 2182).

("Cipro"). In late 1996, Bayer stood at a crossroads. Its internal financial projections showed it would earn at least \$1.614 billion in monopoly profits if it could continue to sell Cipro without competition through December 2003. However, after five years of a patent infringement action against a generic competitor, Defendant Barr Laboratories, Inc. ("Barr"), Bayer faced trial on Barr's counterclaims that the Cipro patent was invalid and unenforceable. Discovery in that case, including the testimony of Bayer's patent lawyers, established that Bayer deliberately concealed prior art from the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office ("PTO"), rendering the Cipro patent void, unenforceable, and incapable of being infringed. Trying to rebut this and other evidence of bad faith, Bayer was reduced to claiming those lawyers suffered from mental infirmities that made their testimony incredible. (7AA 1478–79.)

Confronting the likelihood that it would lose a trial on the merits—and the resulting "patent destruction," the phrase used in a Bayer Board presentation (1AA 150)—Bayer projected that nearly a billion dollars in corporate profits were at risk. Affordable generic medicine would capture 90 percent of the Cipro market within one year, and "there is no credible cost reduction strategy that would overcome such a massive hemorrhage," a Bayer vice-president wrote. (6AA 1283.) Rather than compete, Bayer conspired. Bayer paid Barr and its financial backers a \$398.1 million bribe to drop their patent challenge and terminate their efforts to compete with Bayer. (4AA 701–813.) This was an offer Barr could not refuse: it was more than double the \$148 million to \$177 million Barr predicted it would earn selling generic ciprofloxacin in a competitive market through 2003. (6AA 1203; 10AA 2352–2401.)

After making this large payment to secure the generics' agreement to stay out of the market, Bayer increased the price of Cipro by 16 percent.

(6AA 1167.) Between 1997 and 2003, Bayer gained revenues of approximately \$5.717 billion, and profits of approximately \$4.859 billion, from sales of Cipro tablets including to the California residents who make up the Class here. (6AA 1202.) Pursuant to their agreement, Bayer funded the payment to Barr and others by charging supra-competitive prices for Cipro.

Petitioners represent the certified Class of "hundreds of thousands" of California consumers and third-party payor insurers who purchased Cipro during the Class period. *In re Cipro Cases I and II* (Fourth Dist. 2004) 121 Cal. App. 4th 402, 408. Petitioners filed their consolidated amended complaint on August 5, 2002, alleging violations of the Cartwright Act, the UCL, and the common law doctrine prohibiting monopolistic acts. The case was removed to federal court, then remanded to Superior Court in San Diego.

The Superior Court granted the Defendants' motions for summary judgment on August 21, 2009, entering final judgment on September 24, 2009. The Court of Appeal affirmed, in an opinion issued on October 31, 2011. Neither the Superior Court nor the Court of Appeal applied the antitrust law of California. Instead, they limited the Cartwright Act by adopting the rule from the heavily criticized majority opinion in *In re Tamoxifen Citrate Antitrust Litigation* (2d Cir. 2006) 466 F.3d 187 ("Tamoxifen").

#### **LEGAL ARGUMENT**

Whether California law forbidding payments not to compete should be limited by *Tamoxifen* presents an important question, a question of first impression.

In evaluating Cartwright Act claims, "federal precedents must be used with caution because the acts, although similar, are not coextensive."

Freeman v. San Diego Ass'n of Realtors (Fourth Dist. 1999) 77 Cal. App. 4th 171, 183 n.9 (citation omitted). The Legislature enacted the Cartwright Act in 1907 "in reaction to perceived ineffectiveness" of the Sherman Act. ABA SECTION OF ANTITRUST LAW, STATE ANTITRUST PRACTICE AND STATUTES, California 6-1 (3d ed. 2004). The Cartwright Act supplies the utmost protection to California citizens, "maximizing effective deterrence of antitrust violations." Clayworth v. Pfizer, Inc. (2010) 49 Cal. 4th 758, 764.

The most recent federal appellate court to have reviewed the *Tamoxifen* standard expressed grave reservations about its soundness: "we believe there are compelling reasons to revisit *Tamoxifen* . . . ." *Arkansas Carpenters Health and Welfare Fund v. Bayer AG* (2d Cir. 2010) 604 F.3d 98, 110. That court, however, was bound by its prior decision in *Tamoxifen*, and thus unable to reach a different conclusion. *Id.* at 108. This Court, on the contrary, is not so bound. This standard cannot be reconciled with long-settled principles of antitrust law and patent law and should be rejected for California.

Additionally, the preemption holding will allow litigants to deny access to California courts simply by invoking a patent law element to otherwise redressable business and consumer disputes.

Finally, the evidentiary ruling overlooks precedent of this Court.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Tamoxifen adopted a rule of per se legality that gives a free pass to an exclusion-payment settlement except where: (1) the agreement goes outside the "exclusionary zone" of the patent; (2) the infringement suit was a sham; or (3) the patent was fraudulently procured. 466 F.3d at 213.

# A. The Court of Appeal Wrongly Eliminated the Ability of a Reasonable California Jury to Find the Cipro Market Exclusion Payment Unlawful.

Triable issues of fact exist under the Cartwright Act. Bayer's anticompetitive agreements and \$398.1 million payment violate the Cartwright Act. The agreements obtained more exclusion than was warranted in light of the prospect of patent invalidation. As a result, the agreements unreasonably restrained trade. See Bus. & Prof. Code section 16700, et seq.

The court below erroneously concluded that a patent-based agreement is immune from antitrust scrutiny if the agreement does not affect rights outside the patent's own parameters. See, e.g., Opinion at 38 ("We conclude that because the Cipro agreements undisputedly did not restrain competition beyond the exclusionary scope of the . . . patent, they do not violate the Cartwright Act."). This is incorrect. While a patent may confer a limited monopoly, it also creates opportunities for abuse. When such abuse has occurred, restraints beyond a patent's technical scope are not necessary to a finding of liability. It is settled that the antitrust law prohibits a patent owner from entering into any agreement, even one limited to the patent's scientific and temporal scope, that unreasonably restrains trade. The court below relied on a different, erroneous understanding to foreclose application of the Cartwright Act to address the Cipro agreements' unreasonably anticompetitive purpose and effect.

Consider four seminal cases that go unmentioned in the Court of Appeal's opinion. First, in *United States v. Univis Lens Company* (1942) 316 U.S. 241, 248-49, the U.S. Supreme Court deemed it "unnecessary" to antitrust liability to determine whether the defendant's patents covered the products subjected to vertical price restraints.

Second, in *United States v. Sealy, Inc.* (1967) 388 U.S. 350, 356 n.3, the Court held that it was "not consequential" whether the scheme to allocate markets affected activity "beyond the protection of the trademark[.]"

Third, the patent-based price-fixing agreement found unlawful in *United States v. Masonite Corp.* (1942) 316 U.S. 265, 376, did not confer any "monopoly or restraint other than the monopoly or restraint granted by the patents[.]" The *Masonite* Court explained that, in cases where antitrust and patent law intersect,

the rights and welfare of the community must be fairly dealt with and effectually guarded. Considerations of individual emolument can never be permitted to operate to the injury of these. That must be the point of departure for decision on the facts of cases such as the present one lest the limited patent privilege be enlarged by private agreements so as to by-pass the Sherman Act. . . . Active and vigorous competition then tend to be impaired not from any preference of the public for the patented product but from the preference of the competitors for a mutual arrangement.

316 U.S. at 278, 281. That aptly describes what happened here.<sup>8</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Judge Easterbrook has described *Masonite* in terms particularly appropriate to application in this case: "Several makers of particle board reached an agreement under which all but Masonite retired from the business; those who quit became Masonite's 'del credere agents' and sold its product at fixed prices. This was horizontal in an economically meaningful way. Producers to which consumers might turn for supply suddenly withdrew from the market. With supply down price had to rise, producing a monopoly overcharge. Although the (former) rivals contended that they were just knuckling under to the force of Masonite's patents, the Supreme Court saw a more sinister arrangement—properly so unless the patent was both broad and iron-clad, which could not be known once the former rivals started cooperating." *Illinois Corporate Travel v. American Airlines* (7th Cir. 1989) 889 F.2d 751,753. While the Cipro patent may

Fourth, the Court of Appeal also failed to mention the seminal decision in *United States v. Singer Mfg. Co.* (1963) 374 U.S. 174, involving a clear antitrust violation: American, Italian, and Swiss sewing machine companies arrived at patent settlements to head off an open destructive fight over validity. 374 U.S. at 180, 185. "There is a public interest here," Justice White wrote in concurrence, "which the parties have subordinated to their private ends" through agreements "between business rivals to encroach upon the public domain and usurp it to themselves." *Id.* at 200 (White, J., concurring). That is what happened here.

As these and other cases demonstrate, a patent holder "may commit patent misuse in improper exploitation of the patent either by violating the antitrust laws *or* extending the patent beyond its lawful scope." *Transitron Elec. Corp. v. Hughes Aircraft Co.* (D. Mass. 1980) 487 F. Supp. 885, 893 (emphasis added). The present case involves the former, not the latter situation—and the question of whether Bayer misused its patent is for the jury.

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