S 198616

In the
Supreme Court
of the
State of California

SUPREME COURT
FILED

JAN 11 2012

S198616
IN RE CIPRO CASES I AND II

Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk

Deputy

KARYN McGAUGHEY, et al.,

Petitioners,

v.

BAYER CORPORATION, et al.,

Respondents.

California Court of Appeal · Fourth Appellate District · Case No. D056361
Superior Court of San Diego County · Hon. Richard E.L. Strauss
Case Nos. JCCP 4154 and JCCP 4220

**SERVICE ON ATTORNEY GENERAL AND DISTRICT ATTORNEY
REQUIRED UNDER BUS. AND PROF. CODE § 17209 AND CRD 8.29**

ANSWER OF RESPONDENT BAYER CORPORATION

Peter B. Bensinger, Jr.*
BARTLIT BECK HERMAN PALENCHAR
& SCOTT LLP
Courthouse Place,
54 West Hubbard Street, Suite 300

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

B. Petitioners' Policy Arguments Are Unsupported And Unpersuasive

Petitioners urge the Court to disregard the settled scope of the patent rule on grounds of "public policy." (Petn. 2.) All of these assertions go well beyond the record, and none of them changes the fact that the Court of Appeal and the superior court correctly applied settled law. Even by their terms, however, Petitioners' arguments fail.

Initially, Petitioners invoke a strangely one-sided policy: they assume that consumers benefit only when a patent holder loses in court; they assume that the short-term benefits of lower generic prices always outweigh the long-term benefits of newly discovered, life-saving drugs. But such assumptions "ignor[e] the first principle that enforcing valid patents makes a major contribution to consumer welfare by providing the incentive for innovation." (Kent S. Bernard & Willard K. Tom,

Antitrust Treatment of Pharmaceutical Patent Settlements: The Need for Context and Fidelity to First Principles (2006) 15 Fed.Cir.B.J. 617, 618.)

To justify these arguments, Petitioners make assertions of non-record facts, relying on public pronouncements by interested parties or on Petitioners' own *ipse dixit*:

Increasing Settlements: Petitioners cite an FTC staff report to argue that judicial intervention is necessary because reverse-payment settlements are increasing. (Petn. 13.) They do not disclose that, after the FTC's attack on reverse payments was rejected in *Schering-Plough*, its Hatch-Waxman reports simply redefined the term "payments" to include settlements with *no cash payments at all*, such as settlements with exclusive licenses.⁶ Between 2004 and 2008, while this action was pending in superior court, the reports show only *five* that included cash payments to the generic, and all were small amounts for "litigation" expenses.⁷

⁶ See, e.g., Federal Trade Commission, *Agreements Filed With FTC Under the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement, and Modernization Act of 2003, Summary of Agreements Filed in FY 2008* ("FY 2008 Report") 1 n.2 & 2, available at <http://www.ftc.gov/os/2010/01/100113-mpdim2003rpt.pdf>.

⁷ See FY 2008 Report at 4 (one settlement); Federal Trade Commission, *Agreements Filed With FTC Under the Medicare Prescription Drug Improvement Act of 2003, Summary of Agreements Filed in FY 2007* ("FY 2007 Report") 4, available at <http://www.ftc.gov/os/2008/05/mmaact.pdf> (one settlement); Federal Trade Commission, *Agreements Filed With FTC Under the Medicare Prescription Drug Improvement Act of 2003, Summary of Agreements Filed in FY 2006* ("FY 2006 Report") at 4, available at <http://www.ftc.gov/reports/mmact/MMAreport2006.pdf> (three settlements). The reports for FY 2004 and FY 2005 reflect no cash payments.

Reverse Payments: Petitioners' declaration that payments to the infringement defendant in Hatch-Waxman litigation are "wrong" (Petn. 2) ignores the incentive structure the statute created. Under Hatch-Waxman, an ANDA filer infringes simply by filing its Paragraph IV certification. (35 U.S.C. § 271(e)(2)(A).) The generic challenger, with no damages exposure from actual sales, thus "has relatively little to lose ... beyond litigation costs," while the innovator could "be stripped of its patent monopoly." (*Tamoxifen, supra*, 466 F.3d at pp. 206-207.) Where the innovator has everything to lose, and the generic challenger has everything to gain, consideration for settlement naturally flows from the innovator to the challenger. (*Ibid.*; accord *Asahi Glass, supra*, 289 F.Supp.2d at p. 994 [the generic challenger "would not settle unless he had something to show for the settlement."]; *Schering-Plough, supra*, 402 F.3d at pp. 1074-1076.)

Size of Payment: Petitioners contend that "[t]he sheer enormity of Bayer's payment ... raises a powerful inference that the Cipro patent was a 'paper tiger.'" (Petn. 16.) Bayer's payment was enormous only if taken out of context. The settlement amount equaled just over 6% of Bayer's revenue from Cipro sales from 1997 to 2003, a fact that plaintiffs do not and cannot dispute. (See A.A. 20.) Thus, the settlement made sense even if Bayer's chance of winning was 94%. (*Cipro-II, supra*, 363 F.Supp.2d at pp. 540-541 ["The fact that Bayer paid what in absolute numbers is a handsome sum to Barr to settle its lawsuit does not necessarily reflect a lack of confidence in the '444 Patent, but rather the economic realities of what was at risk"].) That is well within the risk attendant to any patent case,

no matter how strong the patent. “No one can be certain that he will prevail in a patent suit.” (*Asahi Glass, supra*, 289 F.Supp.2d at p. 993; see also *California Teachers Assn. v. State of California* (1999) 20 Cal. 4th 327, 343.) Petitioners do not explain why such a settlement should be considered suspect.

Narrowed Patent: Petitioners claim that “Bayer’s intervening petition seeking reexamination of the patent itself raises suspicion that the original Cipro patent would have been found unenforceable.” (Petn. 17.) But there is no dispute that the relevant claims *for Cipro* were not narrowed. The claims dropped from the earlier patent involved a different class of drugs entirely (naphthyridines), not the quinolones that included Cipro. Thus, the reexamination did not affect the scope of Bayer’s patent over the ciprofloxacin compound. (See *Cipro-II, supra*, 363 F.Supp.2d at p. 519 [“[C]laim 12 ... was not substantively amended and ... all parties agree [that it] covers ciprofloxacin hydrochloride.”].)

In sum, all of Petitioners’ policy assertions go well beyond the record. Whatever the Petitioners’ legislative desires may be, none of their policy arguments warrant review of the opinion below.

III. THIS CASE IS NOT APPROPRIATE FOR ARTICULATING A NEW RULE TO GOVERN HATCH-WAXMAN PATENT SETTLEMENTS

In all events, this is the wrong case for the Court to resolve the questions raised by Petitioners.

A. Past and Pending Changes To Hatch-Waxman Render Review Inadvisable

In 2003, long after the Bayer-Barr settlement, Congress substantially amended the Hatch-Waxman Act. (See Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement, and Modernization Act of 2003, Pub. L. No. 108-173, 117 Stat. 2066.) As the Solicitor General noted when opposing certiorari in *Tamoxifen*, these amendments “altered the regulatory dynamic” under which the settlement here is to be evaluated. (Brief of United States, *Tamoxifen*, *supra*, 551 U.S. 1144 (No. 06-830), 2007 WL 1511527, at *19.)

Bayer is aware of no other pending California case concerning a pre-2003 settlement. Thus, this Court would invest its time in making a one-off ruling, rather than addressing any generally applicable question of law. This is why the Solicitor General urged the U.S. Supreme court to wait: “To the extent the Court is inclined to address the validity of th[is] type of settlement in particular, it may be preferable to do so in a case that arises under the current regulatory regime.” (Brief of United States, *Tamoxifen*, *supra*, 551 U.S. 1144 (No. 06-830), 2007 WL 1511527, at *20; see also Brief of United States, *Cardizem*, *supra*, 543 U.S. 939 (No. 03-779) 2004 WL 1562075, *18-19.)

In addition, pending legislation could render any decision by this Court wholly academic. Since it lost in *Schering-Plough*, the FTC has campaigned for a statute to outlaw reverse-payment settlements. Bills to this effect have been introduced in the past several Congresses. (E.g., Preserve Access to Affordable Generics Act, S. 27, 112th Cong. (2011); S. 369, 111th Cong. (2009), Protecting Consumer Access to Generic Drugs

Act of 2009, H.R. 1706, 111th Cong. (2009).) Investment of this Court's scarce resources is inadvisable when the governing law for future disputes of this kind may well be different. (Cf. Eugene Gressman et al. (9th ed. 2007) *Supreme Court Practice* 247.)

B. The Strength of Bayer's Patent Confirms The Result Below

The Cipro patent's track record makes this a poor test case for adopting a rule that would limit a patentee's right to settle. Bayer's patent has been vindicated before the PTO on reexamination, in three district court challenges to judgment, and at the Federal Circuit. On the appeal of antitrust claims concerning this settlement, moreover, the Federal Circuit agreed that "no fraud occurred" before the PTO. (*Cipro-III, supra*, 544 F.3d at p. 1341.) As Judge Trager stated, "there is something anomalous about the notion that plaintiffs could collect treble damages for settlement of a litigation involving a patent that has been subsequently upheld by the Federal Circuit." (*Cipro-II, supra*, 363 F.Supp.2d at p. 530, fn.14.)

Petitioners thus make no argument that any test based on the "strength" or potential invalidity of the patent would change the result *in this case*. (See Petn. 10-19.) This Court should not intervene merely to confirm what each of five other courts to consider this settlement has already concluded.

IV. PETITIONERS' OTHER GROUNDS ARE ALSO UNWORTHY OF REVIEW

A. The Finding of Substantive Preemption that Petitioners Attack Was Never Made, and Is Not Ripe For Review

Review is unwarranted because Petitioners' "preemption" argument attacks a straw-man. Petitioners conjure a conclusion as to substantive preemption that the Court of Appeal did not, in fact, reach. It is true that granting review here would require this Court to address a difficult issue of what this Court calls "obstacle preemption"—whether a California rule imposing liability on a settlement within the scope of a valid patent would "stand[] as an obstacle to the accomplishment and execution of the full purposes and objectives of Congress" under the patent laws. (*In re Jose C.* (2009) 45 Cal.4th 534, 551.)

But it is equally true that neither the superior court nor the Court of Appeal reached that question. Instead, after ruling on the merits of Petitioners' claims, both held that Petitioners' invalidity theory would also "arise under" federal patent law, depriving the California courts of jurisdiction. If this Court were to grant review, it would have to consider both the jurisdictional preemption question that the Court of Appeal resolved, as well as the substantive preemption question that it did not. But the jurisdictional question is unchallenged on this petition, while the substantive preemption question is presented without the benefit of analysis by either lower court. Neither is worthy of review.

The issue of exclusive federal jurisdiction arose below because the Petitioners contended for the first time in opposing summary judgment that the Bayer infringement suit against Barr was "objectively baseless." They

argued in their briefs that the patent was unenforceable due to Bayer's alleged inequitable conduct before the PTO. The Court of Appeal rejected Petitioners' contention on several grounds, one of which was that allowing proof that the patent was unenforceable as an element of the state claims would trigger the exclusive jurisdiction of the federal courts. (Opn. 38-43.) Although Bayer had raised the issue of obstacle preemption in its brief, the court did not reach it.

Petitioners now seek to create an issue for review by mischaracterizing the court's finding of jurisdictional preemption. In *In re Jose C.*, *supra*, 45 Cal.4th 534, this Court explained the fundamental distinction between two kinds of federal preemption:

Congress may preempt state courts from exercising jurisdiction over [federal] matters, or it may preempt state Legislatures from substantively regulating on matters touching upon [those federal matters].

(45 Cal.4th at p. 538.) The Court warned that "whether Congress has preempted state court jurisdiction is not to be confused with whether it has preempted [substantive] state legislative action." (*Id.* at p. 546.) Within "substantive preemption," there are four separate types: "express, conflict, obstacle, and field preemption." (*Id.* at pp. 549-550.) Obstacle preemption occurs when state law conflicts with the "full purposes and objectives of Congress." (*Ibid.*)

Faithful to this distinction, the Court of Appeal decided only the question of *jurisdictional* preemption:

[W]e conclude that plaintiffs' sham-litigation claim is preempted by federal patent law. "The district courts [of the

United States] shall have original jurisdiction of any civil action arising under any Act of Congress relating to patents Such jurisdiction shall be exclusive of the courts of the states in patent . . . cases.” (28 U.S.C. § 1338(a).)

(Opn. 42; see Opn. 44 [“whether inequitable conduct in the procurement of a patent constitutes unfair competition is within the exclusive jurisdiction of the federal Circuit Court of Appeals.”]; *ibid.* [rejecting Petitioners’ argument as “immaterial to the federal jurisdiction issue”]. Nowhere in the opinion did the court use the term “obstacle” preemption; nowhere did it address whether California law would conflict with federal patent law.

Undeterred, Petitioners assert that “[t]he Court of Appeal incorrectly determined that Petitioners’ basis for seeking liability conflicts with federal law.” (Petn. 6.) They chastise the court for “neglect[ing] to apply the ‘strong presumption against preemption,’” (Petn. 22) and for its failure “even to pay lip service to this Court’s recent guidance” concerning “conflict preemption” in *Viva! Internat. Voice for Animals v. Adidas Promotional Retail Operations, Inc.* (2007) 41 Cal. 4th 929, 936. (*Ibid.*) But the “presumption” and “guidance” to which Petitioners refer relate to substantive preemption, not to exclusive federal jurisdiction. That is why the Petitioners never cited *Viva!* to either court below.

That is also why Petitioners never cited the *Dow* case, on which they now principally rely (Petn. 21-22 & 23-24 [citing *Dow Chemichal Co. v. Exxon Corp.* (Fed.Cir. 1998) 139 F.3d 1470]), to either court below. In *Cipro-III*, the Federal Circuit rejected the same argument. *Dow* is inapposite because the state claim there was based not on conduct before the PTO, but on the patentee’s allegedly false statements to the plaintiff’s

customers in the marketplace. (See 139 F.3d at p. 1477.) The Federal Circuit thus rejected plaintiffs' argument that their state claim was based on "elements other than inequitable conduct before the PTO," and held it substantively preempted. (*Cipro-III, supra*, 544 F.3d at pp. 1340-1341.)

Petitioners cannot create an issue worthy of review by inventing a holding and then attacking it. To be sure, any state court accepting Petitioners' argument would face a difficult issue of obstacle preemption. The patentee's right to enter agreements within the scope of a valid patent is one of the most fundamental that federal patent law grants. But the Court of Appeal did not address substantive preemption. Review should not be granted for an issue neither developed nor decided below.

B. The Claimed Evidentiary Error Does Not Merit Review

Petitioners' final ground for review is the superior court's alleged failure to rule individually on hundreds of rote objections to evidence in the summary judgment record. As Bayer's co-defendants have demonstrated in their separate Answer to the Petition, that argument misunderstands this Court's decision in *Reid v. Google, Inc.* (2010) 50 Cal.4th 513.⁸ Petitioners also waived any claim of error on appeal by failing, with one exception, to "argu[e] that the admission of any specific evidence constituted prejudicial error." (Opn. 52.)

The exception was Petitioners' argument that Bayer's subsequent victories were inadmissible because they post-dated the settlement. (Petn.

⁸ Bayer hereby incorporates by reference the Answer of its co-respondents. (Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.504(e)(3).)

17, 25.) But the timing of Bayer's victories does not make them irrelevant. As Justice Traynor observed: "Evidence of the existence of a particular condition, relationship, or status ... before *and after* an act in question is admissible to indicate the existence of the same status, condition, or relationship at the time of the act." (*Blank v. Coffin* (1942) 20 Cal.2d 457, 463 [emphasis added].) Subsequent findings that the patent's unchanged Claim 12 for Cipro was valid and enforceable are obviously relevant to Petitioners' argument that Bayer's assertion of the identical claim was objectively baseless.

CONCLUSION


The petition for review should be denied.